Brief of Appellant

Filed 11-02-2020

Page 1 of 39

RECEIVED

11-02-2020

CLERK OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Appeal No. 20 AP 1218 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

JOHN R. ANKER,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER ENTERED ON FEBRUARY 21, 2020, BY THE COLUMBIA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TODD J. HEPLER PRESIDING.

Respectfully submitted,

JOHN R. ANKER, Defendant-Appellant

TRACEY WOOD & ASSOCIATES Attorneys for the Defendant One South Pinckney Street, Suite 950 Madison, Wisconsin 53703 (608) 661-6300

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER MR. ANKER'S DETENTION FOR FIELD SOBRIETY TESTING WAS LAWFUL.
- II. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR WHEN IT FOUND THAT THE REFUSAL COULD BE INTRODUCED AS EVIDENCE AGAINST MR. ANKER IN HIS OWI TRIAL?
- III. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR WHEN IT INSTRUCTED THE JURY TO CONSIDER MR. ANKER DECLINING TO SUBMIT TO AN EVIDENTIARY BLOOD TEST AS RELEVANT EVIDENCE IN THE OWI TRIAL?

# STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Defendant-appellant does not request publication of the opinion in this appeal.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument would be appropriate in this case only if the Court concludes that the briefs have not fully presented the issues being raised on appeal.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal from the trial court's denial of Mr. Anker's two motions, in which he moved to suppress evidence derived from his unlawful detention to complete field sobriety testing, as well as the results of an evidentiary chemical analysis of his blood after an arrest for operating while under the influence of an intoxicant. Mr. Anker also appeals the State's use of his declining to submit to a blood test as consciousness of guilt.

On November 10, 2018, Officer Scott Anderson arrested Mr. Anker for operating while under the influence of an intoxicant ("OWI").<sup>2</sup> Officer Anderson placed Mr. Anker in the back of his squad car.<sup>3</sup> Still in the squad car, the officer read the Informing the Accused form ("ITAF").<sup>4</sup> After the officer read Mr. Anker the ITAF, he asked Mr. Anker whether he would submit to a blood test.<sup>5</sup> A backand-forth exchange occurred.<sup>6</sup> Mr. Anker asked for an attorney before he submitted to the test.<sup>7</sup> The officer did not tell Mr. Anker he did not have the right to an attorney but noted Mr. Anker's request for an attorney would be considered refusing testing.<sup>8</sup> After obtaining a warrant, Officer Anderson took Mr. Anker to the hospital, where his blood was drawn.<sup>9</sup> On November 26, 2018, the Wisconsin State Laboratory of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> R.13; R.24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> R.3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> R.67 at 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> *Id.* at 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> R.42; R.45.

Hygiene tested Mr. Anker's blood sample for the presence of ethanol.  $^{10}$  The reported value was  $0.114~g/100mL.^{11}$ 

On January 16, 2019, the Columbia County District Attorney's Office charged Mr. Anker with operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant and operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration, both as a third offense. <sup>12</sup> Mr. Anker moved to suppress his unlawful detention for field sobriety testing. <sup>13</sup> At a later date, Mr. Anker also moved to suppress the test result because the officer misrepresented the consequences of submitting and refusing the blood test. <sup>14</sup>

On May 10, 2019, the Honorable Todd J. Hepler presided over an evidentiary hearing on the unlawful detention motion. At the hearing, Officer Anderson testified that he was on patrol at approximately 8:20 PM on November 10, 2018 when he observed a vehicle traveling without a front license plate. He testified he noted no significant driving behavior. After making contact with Mr. Anker, Officer Anderson noted a strong odor of intoxicant emitting from the vehicle, that Mr. Anker's eyes were glossy and bloodshot, and that Mr. Anker's speech was slow and slurred. When asked, Officer Anderson testified Mr. Anker admitted to consuming

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> R. 45.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> R.3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> R.13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> R.24. Mr. Anker also filed a motion to suppress blood test results based on withdrawal of consent. That motion is not being appealed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> R.67 at 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> *Id.* at 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> *Id.* at 8.

one beer 30 minutes prior to driving that evening. <sup>18</sup> Mr. Anker also stated his license plate had fallen off after striking a deer. <sup>19</sup> After returning to his squad vehicle, Officer Anderson noted Mr. Anker had two prior OWI convictions. <sup>20</sup>

Officer Anderson testified he read the ITAF to Mr. Anker. Upon being read the ITAF, he testified Mr. Anker asked for an attorney to consult with regarding his rights. Officer Anderson testified that at no point did he advise Mr. Anker he had no right to an attorney.<sup>21</sup> He marked the matter down as a refusal to submit to blood testing.<sup>22</sup>

At the May 10, 2019 hearing, the court denied the unlawful detention motion relying especially on "the contradiction between Mr. Anker's suggestion that he had one beer a half hour prior, and the looks and smells of the officer . . . observed at the scene[.]"<sup>23</sup> The court did not address the motion on the refusal filed under *State v. Baratka*.<sup>24</sup> The court imposed a briefing schedule on the *Baratka* issue of invocation of counsel not constituting a refusal.<sup>25</sup> The May 10, 2019 hearing was not a refusal hearing and the court did not examine each issue under Wis. Stat. 343.305(9)(a)5.a with respect to a refusal. Nor did the State request a refusal hearing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> *Id.* at 9; 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> *Id.* at 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> *Id.* at 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> *Id.* at 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> *Id.* at 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> R.67 at 3–4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> *Id.* at 32–33.

Case 2020AP001218 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-02-2020 Page 10 of 39

at the May 10, 2019 hearing. Similarly, the court did not examine Fourth Amendment privacy protections with respect to a blood test.<sup>26</sup>

On October 16, 2019, Mr. Anker moved to suppress the use of the refusal against him at trial, based on coercive and incorrect information in the Informing the Accused document. On October 23, 2019, the court denied the defense motion. On November 15, 2019, Mr. Anker moved for reconsideration on the defense motion to suppress the use of the refusal against him at trial.<sup>27</sup> On November 14, 2019, the court denied the motion for reconsideration.<sup>28</sup> In its decision, the court did not address the caselaw cited by Mr. Anker.<sup>29</sup> Instead, the court simply stated that because law enforcement relied upon a warrant to seize a blood sample, the search "was not a violation of the Fourth Amendment."<sup>30</sup>

On February 10, 2020, Mr. Anker filed a motion in limine to preclude reference to the refusal by the State at trial.<sup>31</sup>

On February 20, 2020, the court presided over a jury trial in the case. Before the jury was summoned, the court addressed defense counsel's motion to preclude the State from referring to Mr. Anker's refusing to submit to blood testing at trial. Defense counsel began by pointing out no refusal hearing had occurred, which was required before any refusal could be mentioned.<sup>32</sup> Counsel further argued that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> *Id.* at 31–32. The court denied the motion in a written decision. *See* R.26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> R.27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> R.28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> R.50

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> R.68 at 13.

Case 2020AP001218 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-02-2020 Page 11 of 39

because this was a criminal OWI trial, the State could not use the refusal to submit to blood testing as evidence of consciousness of guilt based on *Birchfield v. North*\*Dakota\* and \*State\* v. \*Dalton.\* As a defendant had the right to refuse a blood test based on his right to be free from unreasonable searches under the Fourth Amendment, the State could not use the evidence of refusal as consciousness of guilt (or for any other purpose.). 34

The State argued that *State v. Donner* allowed due process to be satisfied for a refusal hearing when a court addresses the refusal in some type of hearing before the OWI trial.<sup>35</sup> In response, defense counsel pointed out the Court of Appeals issued the *Donner* decision pre-*Birchfield* and pre-*Dalton*.<sup>36</sup> On the subject of whether a refusal to submit to blood testing could be introduced as evidence in an OWI trial, the State argued:

[T]he United States Supreme Court has in the past approved the imposition of evidentiary consequences, the fact that a refusal could be used against somebody and nothing in Birchfield should be read to cast doubt on these prior rulings. Under prior Wisconsin law, the introduction of evidence of a refusal is admissible at an OWI trial. So I think the court should deny this motion.<sup>37</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> R.68 at 13; *Birchfield v. North Dakota*, 136 S. Ct. 2173 (2016); *State v. Dalton*, 2018 WI 85, 383 Wis. 2d 147, 914 N.W.2d 120.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> R.68 at 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> *Id.* at 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> *Id.* at 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> *Id.* at 18.

Defense counsel pointed out that the issue was a Fourth Amendment one, not concerning the legality of the implied consent law.<sup>38</sup> Counsel also noted Mr. Anker's constitutional right "supersedes any statutory law imposed by the legislature."<sup>39</sup>

The court declared that Mr. Anker received a hearing on the refusal on August 20, 2019, when the court issued its decision on the motion to suppress, despite the State not requesting a refusal hearing on that date or the court examining criteria under Wis. Stat. 343.305(9)(a)5.a..<sup>40</sup>With respect to whether the refusal could be used in the OWI trial, the court deferred to the State's arguments regarding implied consent and *Birchfield*.<sup>41</sup>

During the trial, the State solicited testimony from Officer Anderson on Mr. Anker declining to submit to the blood test after invoking his right to an attorney.<sup>42</sup> Over defense counsel's objection, the court instructed the jury to consider the refusal to submit to blood testing, "giving to it the weight you believe it is entitled to receive."<sup>43</sup>

On February 20, 2020, a jury convicted Mr. Anker of operating while under the influence of an intoxicant and operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> *Id.* at 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> *Id.* at 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> R.68 at 139.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> *Id.* at 314; 328.

both as a third offense.<sup>44</sup> On February 21, 2020, the court sentenced him for operating while under the influence of an intoxicant as a third offense.<sup>45</sup>

Mr. Anker now appeals the circuit court's order denying his two motions and permitting the State to use Mr. Anker's declination to submit to the blood test as consciousness of guilt at trial.

#### **ARGUMENT**

Mr. Anker respectfully requests that this Court vacate his conviction and remand the case for a new trial.

I. MR. ANKER'S DETENTION FOR FIELD SOBRIETY TESTING WAS WITHOUT REASONABLE SUSPICION HE COMMITED A DRUNK DRIVING OFFENSE.

#### A. Standard of Review

A circuit court's findings are subject to a clearly erroneous standard of review. 46 An appellate court reviews application of historical facts to constitutional claims independently of the circuit court's analysis. 47

B. There were no specific, articulable facts indicating Mr. Anker operated while impaired.

At the suppression hearing, Officer Anderson testified that at 8:23 p.m. on November 10, 2019, he stopped Mr. Anker's vehicle for not having a front license

13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> R.68 at 354.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> R. 69 at 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> State v. Floyd, 2017 WI 78, ¶ 11, 377 Wis. 2d 394, 898 N.W.2d 560.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> *Id*.

Case 2020AP001218 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-02-2020 Page 14 of 39

plate attached.<sup>48</sup> He did not observe any traffic violations beyond the license plate.<sup>49</sup> Nor did he observe any suspicious (though technically legal) driving behavior.<sup>50</sup> Upon making contact with Mr. Anker, Officer Anderson testified he noted a strong odor of intoxicants emitting from the vehicle, that Mr. Anker's eyes were "glossy and bloodshot," and that his speech was slow and slurred.<sup>51</sup> Officer Anderson testified Mr. Anker disclosed he consumed one beer 30 minutes before driving.<sup>52</sup>

On cross examination, Officer Anderson admitted that an individual may have other reasons for having bloodshot eyes irrespective of alcohol consumption.<sup>53</sup> There was no testimony as to how bloodshot eyes are relevant to impaired driving. He also admitted Mr. Anker answered his questions appropriately and did not seem confused.<sup>54</sup> Finally, he did not note any fumbling with a wallet but noted that Mr. Anker may had trouble locating his proof of insurance.<sup>55</sup>

The State noted the *State v. Smith* case involved an extension of a traffic stop.<sup>56</sup> In *Smith*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court upheld the detention of the appellant, who was stopped for the registered owner having a suspended license.<sup>57</sup> However, the *Smith* case involved a situation where the reasonable suspicion

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> R.67 at 6; 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> *Id.* at 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> *Id.* at 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> *Id.* at 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> *Id.* at 17–18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> *Id.* at 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> *Id.* at 26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> State v. Smith, 2018 WI 2, ¶ 21, 379 Wis. 2d 86, 905 N.W.2d 353.

dissipated before the officer made contact with the appellant.<sup>58</sup> In contrast, the focal point with respect to Mr. Anker was his detention for field sobriety testing—the moment the officer told him to step out of the vehicle. Therefore, any reliance on *Smith* would be misguided.

The circuit court, in issuing its ruling denying the motion, stated it was particularly relying upon "the contradiction between Mr. Anker's suggestion that he had one beer a half hour prior, and the looks and smells of the officer[.]"<sup>59</sup> Yet the officer did not testify that he believed Mr. Anker was dishonest about his alcohol consumption or that he believed Mr. Anker consumed a substantial amount of alcohol based on the strong odor. Nor did he testify that the disclosure of one beer consumed and the odor of intoxicants were particularly significant to him in his decision to detain Mr. Anker for field sobriety testing. Therefore, because it relied upon factors not testified to, the court's reliance on these factors was also misguided.

There was no question that Mr. Anker drove his vehicle after consuming alcohol. But there was insufficient information to conclude he operated while impaired. There were no signature hallmarks of an impaired person: no swerving, no difficulty understanding the officer, no dexterity issues noted. While there was an odor of alcohol and bloodshot eyes, an odor of alcohol indicates someone was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> R.67 at 32.

Case 2020AP001218 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-02-2020 Page 16 of 39

drinking—not that he was impaired. The bloodshot eyes were acknowledged to have multiple potential causes.<sup>60</sup>

The *County of Sauk v. Leon* case is instructive.<sup>61</sup> In *Leon*, the appellant was detained by a deputy after his passenger was walking near a Highway after 11:00 p.m. on a Friday.<sup>62</sup> The appellant was on foot and his passenger created a disturbance.<sup>63</sup> The appellant exhibited an odor of intoxicants, admitted to consuming one drink with dinner, but did not have any trouble with balance, any bloodshot eyes or slurred speech.<sup>64</sup> He also promptly retrieved his driver's license.<sup>65</sup> The Court in *Leon* noted that "When an officer is not aware of bad driving, then other factors suggesting impairment must be more substantial."<sup>66</sup>

Here, as in *Leon*, "the record is simply devoid of facts from which reasonable inferences could be drawn that [Mr. Anker]" was impaired.<sup>67</sup> For those reasons, the court's denial of the motion must be reversed. Had the court granted the suppression motion, Mr. Anker would have prevailed at trial.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> *Id*. at 17.

 $<sup>^{61}</sup>$  *Cnty. of Sauk v. Leon*, 2011 WI App 1, ¶ 20, 330 Wis. 2d 836, 794 N.W.2d 929 (unpublished but citable).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> *Id.* ¶ 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> *Id.* ¶ 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> *Id.* ¶ 23.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT INCORRECTLY DENIED MR. ANKER'S MOTION TO PROHIBIT REFERENCE TO HIS REFUSAL AT TRIAL AND ERRONEOUSLY ALLOWED THE STATE TO ELICIT TESTIMONY DEMONSTRATING CONSCIOUSNESS OF GUILT.

#### A. Standard of Review

An appellate court reviews *de novo* a circuit court's legal conclusions.<sup>68</sup> An appellate court reviews a circuit court's findings based on clearly erroneous review.<sup>69</sup>

B. Under established federal and state caselaw, an individual has a right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures.

A staggering amount of personal information can be acquired by the analysis of a sample of blood. The presence of alcohol, drugs, or other chemicals can be detected; as well as genetic information about ancestry, family connections, medical conditions, pregnancy, and profiles suitable for identification purposes. For these reasons, the United States Supreme Court has recognized that the chemical analysis of a blood sample is an invasion of an individual's privacy.<sup>70</sup>

The United States Supreme Court has consistently recognized an expectation of privacy in the information contained within biological samples—a privacy interest distinct from the collection of the samples in the first place. In the 1989 case *Skinner v. Railway Labor Executives' Association*, the Court explained:

<sup>68</sup> State v. Guzman, 166 Wis. 2d at 586.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> State v. Johnson, 2007 WI 32, ¶ 13, 299 Wis. 2d 675, 729 N.W.2d 182.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Skinner v. Ry. Labor Executives' Ass'n, 489 U.S. 602, 616 (1989).

[I]t is obvious that this physical intrusion, penetrating beneath the skin, infringes an expectation of privacy that society is prepared to recognize as reasonable. The ensuing chemical analysis of the sample to obtain physiological data is a further invasion of ... privacy interests.<sup>71</sup>

In 2001, the United States Supreme Court decided the case of *Ferguson v. City of Charleston*, where warrantless drug testing was conducted on lawfully-obtained urine samples.<sup>72</sup> Despite the collection of the urine itself being lawful, the Court, citing to *Skinner*, held that "[T]he urine tests ... were *indisputably* searches within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment."<sup>73</sup>

In *Birchfield v. North Dakota*,<sup>74</sup> the Supreme Court commented on the information contained in a blood sample as distinct from a breath sample:

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