Respondent Brief

Filed 12-21-2020

Page 1 of 26

FILED 12-21-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2020AP1218-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOHN R. ANKER,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN COLUMIBA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TODD J. HEPLER, PRESIDING

BRIEF A OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JORDAN LIPPERT Assistant District Attorney Columbia County State Bar #: 1086914

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Columbia County District Attorney's Office Post Office Box 638 Portage WI 53901 (608) 742-9650 (608) 7426-9606 (Fax) Jordan.Lippert@da.wi.gov

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

B. Law on the Use of a Chemical Test Refusal during an OWI Trial.

In any event, the circuit court did not err on this point. The great weight of legal precedent affirms that one of the "evidentiary consequences" of refusing to permit an evidentiary chemical test of one's blood is the introduction of that fact during a jury trial. "[T]he fact of the defendant's refusal to submit to a test may be introduced at trial on the substantive drunk driving offense as a means of showing consciousness of guilt." State v. Zielke, 137 Wis. 2d 39, 49-50, 403 N.W.2d 427 (1987).

Most recently, the Court of Appeals reaffirmed this well-established principle in <u>State v. Levanduski</u>, 2020 WI App 53, 393 Wis. 2d 674, 948 N.W. 2d 411. In that case the defendant argued that the "Informing the Accused" form illegally threatened "[i]f you refuse to take any test that this agency requests...the fact that you refused testing can be used against you in court." <u>Id</u>. at ¶ 2. The Defendant in <u>Levanduski</u>, like Anker here, argued that she had a Fourth Amendment constitutional right to refuse to submit to a

Case 2020AP001218 Respondent Brief Filed 12-21-2020 Page 17 of 26

warrantless blood draw. <u>Id</u>. at \P 6. And, according to the defendant, it would be an unconstitutional infringement on that Fourth Amendment right to permit the evidence of the invocation of the right to be used as evidence of consciousness of guilt. <u>Id</u> at \P 14. Thus, according the defendant's reasoning, the Informing the Accused made a false and empty threat that induced her to consent to an evidentiary chemical test of her blood. <u>Id</u>. at \P 6.

The <u>Levanduski</u> closely court parsed the meaning of <u>Birchfield v. North Dakota</u>, U.S. , 136 S. Ct. 2160, 195 L. Ed 2d 560 (2016) and <u>State v. Dalton</u>, 2018 WI 85, 383 Wis. 2d 147, 914 N.W.2d 120. <u>Levanduski</u> 2020 WI App 53 at ¶¶ 12-15. In the end, the <u>Levanduski</u> court held that the Informing the Accused form *is* correct. <u>Id</u>. ¶ 15. The fact that a suspect refused testing can be used at trial as evidence of consciousness of guilt. <u>Id</u>. at ¶ 9. Indeed, the Court of Appeals held that "the rule [allowing a suspect's refusal to submit to a blood draw to be used against the suspect at trial as consciousness of guilt] has been reinforced." <u>Id</u>. at ¶ 10.

C. The Circuit Court did not Err When it Admitted the Refusal Evidence

Anker's attempts to escape ramifications of the Levanduski opinion are unavailing. Anker recognizes, of course, that "[i]n State v. Levanduski, the Court of Appeals decided the same issue as Mr. Anker's." Anker's Br. at 26. Anker does not appear to recognize the precedential value of the Levanduski opinion. This court is not at liberty to ignore the law announced in Levanduski. See, Cook v. Cook, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 189-90, 560 N.W.2d 246 (1997). ("published opinions of the court of appeals are precedential; litigants, lawyers and circuit courts should be able to rely on precedent;.... [O]nly the supreme court, the highest court in the state, has the power to overrule, modify or withdraw language from a published opinion of the court of appeals.").

Case 2020AP001218 Respondent Brief Filed 12-21-2020 Page 18 of 26

So, whereas Anker faults the legal reasoning set forth in Levanduski and argues that the opinion contains "no support" to use the refusal to submit to the blood test in the OWI trial, this Court should apply the precedent of <u>Levanduski</u> and deny Anker's appeal.

III. The Trial Court provided Anker with all the procedure that was due before allowing the State to introduce evidence that Anker refused to permit an evidentiary chemical test of his blood.

Finally, Anker argues that the evidence that he refused to submit to an evidentiary chemical test should not have been introduced at trial because the circuit court did not "perform a meaningful review of the alleged refusal." Anker Br. at 30. Anker's argument is factually unsupported, legally undeveloped, and wrong.

A. Controlling Legal Principles on What Process is Due Prior to the Admission of Refusal Evidence

In <u>State v. Zielke</u>, 137 Wis. 2d 39, 403 N.W. 2d 427 (1987), the Wisconsin Supreme Court cautioned that due process considerations dictate that the fact of an evidentiary chemical test refusal should not be admitted at trial unless it is determined that police provided the defendant the warnings set forth in Wis. Stat. § 343.305. Those warnings are found on the Informing the Accused form. R. 44.

In <u>State v. Donner</u>, 192 Wis. 2d 305, 531 N.W.2d 369, (Ct. App. 1995), the Wisconsin Court of Appeals clarified that "<u>Zielke</u>, however, does not hold that the inquiry must necessarily be conducted within the context of a formal revocation hearing under the implied consent law." <u>Donner</u>, 192 Wis. 2d at 313. Instead, a court can satisfy the <u>Zielke</u> due process requirements by examining whether a defendant was properly advised of the implied consent law during pre-trial

Case 2020AP001218 Respondent Brief Filed 12-21-2020 Page 19 of 26

proceedings. In particular, in <u>Donner</u>, the Court of Appeals stated:

Here, the question of whether Donner was properly informed under the implied consent law was explored both at the motion in limine hearing and during the trial. Thus, Donner received the equivalent of an implied consent hearing within the context of the pretrial and trial proceedings. As such, Donner was accorded the protections guaranteed by Zielke before evidence of his refusal was used against him. Therefore, pursuant to Bolstad, the trial court properly admitted evidence of Donner's refusals

Donner, 192 Wis. 2d at 314.

Neither <u>Zielke</u> nor <u>Donner</u> hold that a court must conduct a full evidentiary hearing concerning the defendant's refusal or that the issues at such a "due process" hearing would include whether an officer had probable cause to place the defendant under arrest in the first place.

Nevertheless, Anker argues that he would have argued that Officer Anderson did not have probable cause to arrest him and that Officer Anderson did not properly advise him under the implied consent law. Anker Br. at 33.

B. Anker's argument is factually unsupported

First, Anker's allegation that Officer Anderson failed to properly advise him under the implied consent law is puzzling given the extensive proof in this record that Officer Anderson properly fulfilled his duties in this regard. During the May 10, 2019 evidentiary hearing Officer Anderson testified that he read the Informing the Accused form to the Defendant verbatim. R. 67 at 22. The Informing the Accused form was introduced as an exhibit at trial. R. 44. Even Mr. Anker testified at trial that Officer Anderson read the form "verbatim word for word." R. 68 at 283.

Case 2020AP001218 Respondent Brief Filed 12-21-2020 Page 20 of 26

Anker also argues that this Court should take judicial notice of the procedural posture in Columbia County Circuit Court Case #: 2018 TR 6069R. Anker's Br. at 32. To the extent Anker's argument depends on this fact, the State contends that "[i]t is the appellant's responsibility to provide a complete record as to all the issues [he or she] raises on appeal." Joseph Hirschberg Revocable Living Tr. v. City of Milwaukee, 2014 WI App 91, ¶ 12 n.5, 356 Wis. 2d 730, 855 N.W. 2d 699. This court should not rely on facts outside of the record before it.

C. Anker's argument is legally undeveloped

Anker argues that "State v Donner does not control here" because it was decided prior to the United States Supreme Court's decision in North Dakota v. Birchfield and the Wisconsin Supreme Court decision in State v. Dalton. Anker's Br. at 32. However, Anker does not explain how or why any particular aspect of those decisions have any bearing on the rule of law announced in State v. Donner. As such, this Court should reject Anker's argument as inadequately developed. See, State v. Pettit, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992). (The Court of Appeals may decline to review issues inadequately briefed).

D. Anker's Argument is wrong

In North Dakota v. Birchfield, the United States Supreme Court noted that its prior opinions referred approvingly to the general consent of implied-consent laws that impose civil penalties and evidentiary consequences on motorists who do not comply with evidentiary testing. Birchfield 136 S. Ct. at 2185. "Nothing we say here should be read to cast doubt on them." Id.

While the Wisconsin Supreme Court has decided that the fact of a refusal is an improper factor to enhance a Case 2020AP001218 Respondent Brief Filed 12-21-2020 Page 21 of 26

criminal sentence, nothing the <u>State v. Dalton</u> touches on what "evidentiary consequences" follow from an implied consent refusal or the process that must be due before a refusal can be introduced at evidence. <u>See</u>, Dalton at 2018 WI 85.

State v. Levanduski, makes it clear that binding precedent permits the introduction of an improper refusal as evidence of consciousness of guilt. State v. Donner allows for pre-trial motion hearings as well as motions in limine to afford a defendant due process before the introduction of refusal evidence at trial. Donner at 192 Wis. 2d at 314.

In this case, Anker challenged the reasonable suspicion for his continued detention to complete field sobriety tests. Anker did *not* argue that the officer lacked probable cause to arrest him. More than eight months before the jury trial, the circuit court held an evidentiary hearing and took testimony concerning the alleged refusal and its circumstances. That evidence demonstrated that Officer Anderson properly informed Anker of the consequences of refusing to submit to an evidentiary chemical test of his blood. Six months before the jury trial, the circuit court ruled that "the Court concludes that Mr. Anker was properly advised about the results of his actions and his noncommittal statements constituted a refusal to submit to chemical testing." R. 22 at 2. The Court again explored the issue concerning the refusal in ruling on motions in limine on the morning of trial. R. 68 at 15-21. Mr. Anker was afforded due process prior to his refusal being admitted at trial as evidence of his guilt.

IV. Any error in admitting evidence that Mr. Anker refused to submit to an evidentiary chemical blood test was harmless.

Evidentiary errors are subject to a harmless error analysis and an error requires reversal only if the improper

Case 2020AP001218 Respondent Brief Filed 12-21-2020 Page 22 of 26

admission of evidence affects the substantial rights of a party. State v. Britt, 203 Wis. 2d 25, 41, 553 N.W.2d 528 (Ct. App. 1996). Errors are harmless when "it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty" even without the alleged error. State v. Deadwiller, 2013 WI 75, ¶ 41, 350 Wis. 2d 138, 834 N.W. 2d 362.

In, <u>State v. Alexander</u>, the Wisconsin Supreme Court found that evidence of a defendant's erratic driving, a strong smell of intoxicants about the defendant's person, red eyes and slurred speech, an admission from the defendant that he had been drinking, a statement from the defendant to the arresting officer that "You got me," three failed field sobriety tests, and a breath test showing an alcohol concentration of .24 constituted "overwhelming" evidence that the defendant was guilty of driving while intoxicated. <u>State v. Alexander</u>, 214 Wis. 2d 628, 653, 571 N.W. 2d 662 (1997).

The evidence introduced in Mr. Anker's trial was comparably comprehensive. Officer Anderson testified that a "strong" odor of intoxicants and bloodshot and glassy eyes. R. 68 at 122-123. Mr. Anker's performance of the field sobriety test was consistent with the performance one would expect from an intoxicated person. R. 68 at 130, 134, 135-136. An analysis of Mr. Anker's blood revealed concentration of .114 grams of alcohol per milliliter of blood. R. 68 at 203. Anker admitted to drinking prior to driving and told Officer Anderson that he believed he was "around" the legal limit of .08. R. 68 at 136.

Notably, Mr. Anker testified in his own defense at trial he attempted to clarify and explain his comment that he was "around" the legal limit. Instead, initially testified that he believed that he was *over* the .08 legal limit following the sobriety tests and added significant evidence of his guilt. R. 68 at 286-287. In redirect examination, when being

Case 2020AP001218 Respondent Brief Filed 12-21-2020 Page 23 of 26

questioned by his own attorney, the jury heard the following exchange:

Q And you were asked -- you kept saying right around the legal limit, correct?

A Yes.

Q Where do you think you fell on the legal limit?

A Over.

Q Over?

A Or at what time?

Q At what time? So if the officer said, what do you think you are, you said right around the legal limit?

A Yes.

Q Okay, so where exactly if you are saying right around, do you mean over, under? What do you mean?

A I figured I would be under.

R. 68 at 286-287.

In comparison, while somewhat probative of Anker's consciousness of guilt, the refusal evidence in this case was cumulative. The refusal evidence itself was diminished in strength due to the circumstances surrounding the refusal. Officer Anderson testified that Anker *did* agree to take the evidentiary chemical test, but conditioned that willingness to take the test on the availability of an attorney. R. 68 at 170. Officer Anderson informed Anker that Officer Anderson would take that conditional "yes" as a "no" and again asked Anker if he would submit to testing without reservations. R. 68 at 283-284. Anker continued to condition his submission to the test on the availability of an attorney and Officer Anderson processed that response as a refusal. R. 68 at 170. The jury viewed the video recording of the conversation. R. 68 at 171. Again, while those circumstances are somewhat

Case 2020AP001218 Respondent Brief Filed 12-21-2020 Page 24 of 26

indicative of a consciousness of guilt, they are hardly determinative.

In closing arguments, both the State and the Defense discussed Anker's physical symptoms of intoxication (the odor, the bloodshot and glossy eyes). R. 68 at 340, 347. Both the State and the Defense made arguments concerning the field sobriety tests and the conditions in which they were administered. R. 68 at 334-335, 338-339. The parties offered conflicting interpretations of the blood analysis showing a blood alcohol concentration of .114 g/100mL. R. 68 at 331-332, 344. Neither the State nor the Defense made any comment regarding Mr. Anker's refusal to submit to an evidentiary chemical test of this blood. R. 68 at 330-349. During closing arguments, neither the State nor the Defense made any reference to Anker's refusal (or the reasons for his refusal) to submit to the evidentiary blood test. R. 68 at 330-349. Any error in admitting the refusal evidence was harmless.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, the State asks this Court to affirm the trial court's judgment of conviction.